FILED SID J. WHITE JUN 11 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 81,534

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

ROBERT SMITH,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW CERTIFIED QUESTION

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JOAN FOWLER

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar #339067

CAROL COBOURN ASBURY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 393665 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, Fla.

33401-2299

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Appellee in the District Court. The Respondent, ROBERT SMITH, was the Appellant below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal and the symbol "A" will designate the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Robert Smith, was charged jointly with Rudolph Flowers by information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit in and for Indian River County with trafficking in cocaine in an amount greater than 200 grams, a first-degree felony. R 52.

Pre-trial, Respondent moved in writing to suppress both the suspected cocaine and any statements, R 74-76. Hearing was had before Circuit Court Judge Charles Smith on July 3, 1991. The testimony of Indian River County Deputy Sheriffs Michael Brandes and Donald Hart was presented.

Deputy Brandes and a trainee were driving on I-95 just south of SR 60 on March 20, 1991 shortly after 3 P.M. when Brandes observed a car driving very erratically down I-95 and the driver (Flowers) with both hands in front of his face. R 5,10,14. The driver was not maintaining a single lane. R 14. Initially Deputy Brandes suspected Flowers of being under the influence of alcohol or being tired. R 10,18. Brandes pulled out, turned around and went after the vehicle. R 14. It took about a mile for the Deputy to catch up with the vehicle. R 14.

Deputy Brandes pulled the vehicle over and he asked the driver for his drivers license and vehicle registration. Respondent was a passenger in the car. R 5-6. Flowers explained that he was driving erratically because he was splashing himself with water from a cup that was allegedly on the console of the car. This was why both hands were in

his face. R 10. Deputy Brandes told Flowers that he would rather Flowers drink coffee or pull off the side of the road and take a little nap. R 10. A warning for failure to drive within a single lane was issued. R 7.

Flowers was told he was free to leave. R 7. Flowers began walking toward his vehicle and Brandes began walking toward the patrol car. Brandes then turned around and asked permission to search Flowers' vehicle. Flowers' consented. R 7. Both the Respondent and Flowers were placed in the back of the patrol car primarily for their safety so that they would not get hit by a passing vehicle. R 10.

Deputy Brandes and Deputy Hart proceeded to search the vehicle pursuant to Flowers' consent. When Deputy Hart opened the glove compartment, he could see a white paper towel protruding from behind the glove compartment. When he took a second look he could see a brown oblong-shaped thing taped up. R 27. Brandes looked and it appeared to be a taped package. R 11. He touched it and found it to be a soft substance wrapped in tape. R 24-25. The package was removed. R 11. Brandes made a small cut on top of the package and took a small amount of a white substance and field tested it. It field tested positive for cocaine. He then placed both subjects under arrest. R 31.

Brandes had a tape recorder in his patrol vehicle which he used to tape the conversations of Respondent and Flowers. While they were in the rear of the patrol car the Respondent and Flowers had a conversation wherein they wanted to know if the deputies had located the package yet, referring to the package that was found in the glove compartment. R 12-13. Respondent and Flowers were not told that their conversation in the patrol car was being recorded. R 33.

After argument of counsel the trial court issued the following oral order:

Based on the testimony presented in on the Defendant, Robert case Smith's, Motion to suppress the evidence finds and determines that the Court Officer Michael Brandes was patrolling I-95 about three p.m. on March 22, 1991, noticed driving when he car а erratically northbound on I-95. It was weaving back and forth in the lanes. He turned around and pursued it and stopped it as soon as possible. He suspected that he might be under the influence or and anyway there was no suspicion of other criminal activity or trafficking The -- from the evidence in drugs. presented the Court finds and determines that it was not a pretextual stop. was a valid traffic stop. The [sic] after Brandes stopped the car he found of the out the driver car Rudolph Flowers, he asked him to check the rental papers, found that there was some discrepancies but he told Mr. Flowers that he was free to go after he had issued -- after the other officer, the training officer, had issued a traffic warning.

After he was told he was free to go to Flowers, Officer Brandes then asked him if he would mind if he would search the car and the Flowers gave permission freely and voluntarily for the office to search the car including the contents. The Robert Smith and well first Flowers,

was placed in the patrol car for protection and for protection and then Robert Officer's Smith, the defendant in this case, the passenger was placed in the patrol car for his own safety. Deputy Hart after consent then was freely voluntarily given found a taped package which field tested for cocaine and found money in the glove compartment in a duffel bag.

The Court finds and determines from the evidence that it as I said is a valid traffic stop. It was not a pretextual stop. Consent was freely and voluntarily given. There was suspicion of drug activity at the time the vehicle was stopped. The tape recording was in the patrol car. There is no expectation of privacy in a patrol car under Moreland v. State and other cases.

For those reasons the Motion to Suppress the evidence, the cocaine and the tape recording, are denied. R 42-44.

On July 9, 1991, Respondent appeared before the court and pursuant to a written plea agreement (R 81-83) entered a plea of nolo contendere to the charge of trafficking in cocaine in an amount between 28 to 200 grams, reserving his right to appeal the denial of the motion to suppress. SR 2-3. The trial court adjudicated Respondent guilty and sentenced him to 25 years in the Department of Corrections followed by five (5) years on probation, with a three (3) year minimum mandatory term and a \$50,000 fine. Respondent was given credit for time served and was ordered to serve

this sentence consecutive to any active sentence being served. R 49-50.

The Respondent appealed the trial court's ruling on his motion to suppress. The Fourth District Court issued its opinion on March 17, 1993. See Appendix. The Fourth District Court agreed with the trial court that the stop of the vehicle in which the Respondent was a passenger was not a pretextual stop.

The Fourth District Court found that the "police asked appellant to sit in the rear of a police vehicle solely for safety and comfort reasons." Consequently, the Fourth District Court found that the Respondent had not demonstrated that the police "illegally detained him in the police vehicle."

However, the Fourth District Court, citing to its decision in <u>Springle v. State</u>, 18 Fla.L. Weekly D283 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan 13, 1993), found that the "secret and unauthorized tape recording constitute an invasion of the right of privacy and a violation of section 934.03, Florida Statutes, (1991). Therefore, the contents of the tape recording and any evidence derived therefrom are inadmissible under section 934.06, Florida Statutes (1991)."

Nevertheless, the Fourth District Court held that the "illegal tape recording did not assist the police in their discovery of the suspected cocaine. Therefore, the trial court did not err when it denied appellant's motion to suppress as to the seized physical evidence."

In sum, the Fourth District Court held that the stop was not pretextual; that the Respondent was not illegally detained when he was placed in the back of the patrol car for his safety; that the tape recording of the Respondent's conversation with Flowers made in the back of the patrol car violated his right of privacy; that the tape recording did not assist the police in their discovery of the contraband; that the tape recording should have been suppressed by the trial court but that the trial court did not err in not suppressing the contraband, which was found pursuant to the consent given for the search.

The Petitioner moved for a rehearing on the issue of the tape recording. Petitioner requested that the Fourth District Court certify the same question that was certified in Springle and to stay mandate. On April 9, 1993 the Fourth District Court stayed mandate and certified the following question:

WOULD SOCIETY CONCLUDE THAT THE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY, UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED, WAS REASONABLE?

The State now seeks review by this Court solely on the issue certified by the Fourth District Court.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WOULD SOCIETY CONCLUDE THAT THE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY, UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED, WAS REASONABLE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

It has been repeatedly held that there is no expectation of privacy in the back seat of a police car for oral conversations. Respondent does not have broader rights pre-arrest than post-arrest. There is no persuasive distinction between pre-arrest and post-arrest situations. Therefore, under the circumstances of this case, the oral conversations surreptitiously taped in the back seat of the patrol car were admissible at trial.

ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO REASONABLE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY IN THE BACK SEAT OF A POLICE VEHICLE

The Fourth District recognized that the general rule is that there is normally no Fourth Amendment expectation of police and that conversations privacy in а car surreptitiously taped therein were not subject to Fourth Moreover, it has been repeatedly Amendment protections. held that recording conversations of defendants in the back seat of a police car does not violate a defendant's statutory or constitutional rights because there can be no expectation of privacy in a police car. Brown v. State, 349 So. 2d 1196 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1078, 98 S.Ct. 1271, 55 L.Ed. 2d 487 (1978); DiGuilio v. State, 451 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), approved and remanded, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986); State v. McAdams, 559 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Sub judice, the Fourth District Court held that defendants, who were not under articulable arrest or suspicion, did have a subjective and reasonable expectation that their conversation would be private.1 Therefore,

¹Respondent's defense counsel told the trial court that if the Respondent had voluntarily sat in the patrol car then the Respondent would have had no expectation of privacy. (R 37-38,42). Respondent's appellate counsel argued that whether Respondent sat in the patrol car voluntarily or involuntarily makes no difference regarding the result. Appellate counsel argues that "What is significant is whether Appellant was in custody at the time he was placed in the car." Reply brief page 4. Appellate counsel argues that if an individual is not under arrest he should have a reasonable expectation of privacy "in his communications despite the location where they occur." Initial Brief page 16,18. Thus Respondent is clearly arguing that it is the status of

secretly recording that conversation in the back seat of a patrol car violated the defendant's right of privacy.

The Fourth District Court's ruling clearly holds that a person has an expectation of privacy in the back of a patrol if that person is not arrested or not under articulable suspicion. Springle v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D283 (Fla. 4th DCA Jan. 13, 1993), on review in the Florida Supreme Court, Case No. 81,138. Nevertheless, the Fourth District Court recognizes that there is no expectation of privacy in the back seat of a patrol car. Thus, the Fourth of the District Court's ruling turns on the status defendant. Petitioner maintains that this is an incorrect analysis. The focus of a Fourth Amendment analysis does not depend on the pre-arrest or post arrest status of a person but rather on the reasonable expectation of privacy the individual has in the area where the search was conducted.

In <u>Hoffa v. United States</u>, 385 U.S. 293, 301-302, 87 S. Ct. 408, 17 L. Ed. 2d 374 (1966) the United States Supreme Court stated that "no interest legitimately protected by the Fourth Amendment" is implicated by governmental investigative activities unless there is an intrusion into a zone of privacy, into the "security a man relies upon when

the Respondent that creates the expectation of privacy in the police vehicle. In contrast, the State argues that a person has no expectation of privacy in the back of a police car regardless of the pre-arrest or post-arrest status of the person or whether the person was placed in the back seat of the police vehicle voluntarily or involuntarily. The only exception to this rule is if there is an affirmative oral statement which conveys to the individual that his conversations in the police vehicle are private.

he places himself or his property within a constitutionally protected area." The focus is on whether the person is in a constitutionally protected area. As <u>Katz v. United States</u>, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1967) points out, the person must have a reasonable or justifiable expectation of privacy in the area searched. The Fourth District Court has stated:

It seems appropriate to conclude that quantum of reasonableness the society will ascribe to an expectation of privacy has a direct albeit undefined geographical relationship to the location of the individual at the time violation of the alleged of Such an analysis constitutional right. implicit in Katz, supra, indeed, is explicit in Justice Harlan's concurring opinion in that case.

Morningstar v. State, 405 So. 2d 778, 781 (Fla. 4th DCA 1081). Justice Harlan stated in Katz:

As the Court's opinion states, "the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places." The question, however, is what protection it affords to those people. Generally, as here, the answer to that requires reference to question "place." My understanding of the rule that has emerged from prior decisions is that there is a twofold requirement, first that a person have exhibited an (subjective) expectation privacy and, second, that the expectation be one that society is prepared to recognize as "reasonable."

Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 361, 88 S.Ct. 507, 11
L.Ed. 2d 576 (1967). Justices Harlan's twofold test was

adopted by this Court in State v. Inciarrano, 473 So. 2d 1272 (Fla. 1985). Consequently, what constitutes a "reasonable expectation of privacy" in a given situation is a function of the location of the conversation.

As noted above, it has been repeatedly held that there can be no statutory or constitutional expectation of privacy in a police car. Brown, supra; McAdams, supra. A right of privacy cannot be conferred by virtue of a defendant's status, pre-arrest or post-arrest. Or by virtue of the police placing an individual into the back of a police car for safety reasons.

It has been held that standing to assert a Fourth Amendment right turns on the defendant showing lawful possession or control (of the patrol car, in this case) giving rise to a legitimate expectation or privacy. United States v. Alonso, 790 F. 2d 1489 (10th Cir. 1986). Alonso the Tenth Circuit held that "[s]tanding may not be conferred by the government's activity, no matter how warrantless or illegal it might be, where no constitutionally protected right is violated." Alonso at 1495.

In <u>Alonso</u> the defendant claimed that the government violated his right to privacy by placing an illegal transponder on the airplane he used to fly marijuana into the United States. It was uncontested that the airplane was owned by another person. The court held that the defendant

did not have any expectation of privacy due to the government's use of an illegal transponder.

...the analysis, however, is not altered by the fact that the use transponder was essentially warrantless. defendant has no expectation on the plane, due to want of ownership or the airplanes' presence in public airways, he has no standing to Fourth Amendment assert a Standing may not be conferred by the government's activity, no matter how warrantless or illegal it might be, no constitutionally protected right is violated.

United States v. Alonso, 790 F. 2d at 1495. See United States v. Miller, 425 U.S. 435, 441, 98 S. Ct. 1619, 48 L. E. 2d 71, 78 (1976) (Defendant does not obtain a Fourth Amendment right to privacy because of the government's use of a defective subpoena). In other words, the focus is on the reasonable expectation of privacy that a defendant may have in a constitutionally protected area NOT the status of the defendant. Furthermore, the government's activity cannot confer standing where there is no constitutionally protected right. Consequently, the placing of the Appellant into the back seat of the patrol car "solely for safety and does not confer standing comfort reasons" where constitutionally protected right is violated.

This issue was recently addressed by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals in <u>United States v. McKinnon</u>, 7 Fla. L. Weekly Fed. C90 (11th Cir. March 9, 1993). In that case the defendants were stopped for a traffic violation.

After successfully performing sobriety tests, the driver signed a form signifying his consent for the officers to search his car. Defendants were placed in the back of the police patrol car for their safety while the search of their car commenced. Unbeknownst to the defendants there was a tape recorder running in the back of the patrol car. Incriminating conversations were recorded. The sole issue addressed by the Eleventh Circuit was "whether the district court erred in denying the motion to suppress the tapes resulting from the secret recording of [defendant's] prearrest conversations while he sat in the back seat of the police car."

Defendant argued that the recordings violated his Fourth Amendment right to privacy. Defendant contended that "society is willing to recognize this subjective expectation of privacy because the government violated his rights because it did not have probable cause to conduct this secret search."

The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal stated that "[t]hough we have no controlling authority in this circuit, one federal district court and several state courts have held that no reasonable expectation of privacy exists in the back seat area of a police car." Two cases the Court cited by the Eleventh Circuit is State v. McAdams, 559 So. 2d 601,602 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) and Brown v. State, 349 So. 2d 1196, 1197 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1078, 98 S.Ct. 1271, 55 L. Ed. 2d 785 (1978). The Eleventh

Circuit Court then held that the defendant did not have a reasonable or justifiable expectation of privacy for conversations he held while seated in the back seat of a police car. Furthermore, the Eleventh Circuit Court held that there is no distinction between pre-arrest and post-arrest situations. Both situations require the same test.

McKinnon is right on point to this case. It again supports the United State Supreme Court cases wherein the analysis rests on the reasonable expectation of privacy in the constitutionally protected area not the pre-arrest or post-arrest status of the person. In other words standing cannot be conferred by the government's activity, no matter how warrantless or illegal it might be, where no constitutionally protected right is violated.

The back seat of a patrol car is tantamount to a police officer's office where there is no expectation of privacy. It is also the equivalent to a jail, and no reasonable expectation of privacy exists in a jail cell. McKinnon, Supra. Thus, Respondent, while in the back seat of the patrol car, has no reasonable or justifiable expectation of privacy.

Under Section 934.03, Florida Statute (1991), a crime occurs where a person willfully intercepts a private conversation where there is an expectation of privacy in that conversation. See Section 934.02(2), Florida Statute (1991) defining oral communication as any oral communication uttered by a person exhibiting an expectation that such

communication is not subject to interception under circumstances justifying such expectation. Oral communications fall within the statutory scheme where the citizen has an actual subjective expectation that communication is private, coupled with society's recognition expectation is reasonable. that Katz, Inciarrano, supra; McKinnon, supra. Since individuals do not have a constitutional expectation of privacy in the back seat of a police patrol car, oral communications which occur in the back seat of a patrol car also do not have an expectation of privacy pursuant to Section 934, Florida Statute (1991). See Brown v. State, supra; McKinnon, supra.

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