IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner, vs. ROBERT SMITH,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 81,534

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit

SUSAN D. CLINE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 377856 Attorney for Robert Smith Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street, 6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (407) 355-7600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction over this A unanimous Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed a case. circuit court order denying Respondent's motion to suppress a secretly tape-recorded conversation. In doing so, the district court applied existing law to the instant facts. It concluded that Respondent had a subjective and reasonable expectation of privacy in his oral communications in the rear seat of a patrol vehicle because he was not under arrest and law enforcement did not have a founded suspicion that he was engaged in illegal activity. This opinion, based upon sound and long-standing legal principles, does not require review by this Court. The district court of appeal properly held that the secret and unauthorized tape recordings constituted an invasion of Respondent's right to privacy and a violation of Section 934.03, Florida Statutes (1991), and thus are inadmissible under Section 934.06, Florida Statutes (1991). Additionally, the government has failed to establish that a compelling state interest justified the unlawful intrusion on Respondent's state constitutional right to privacy.

ARGUMENT

POINT I (RENUMBERED)

THIS COURT SHOULD DECLINE TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION PURSUANT TO ARTICLE V, SECTION 3(B)(4) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITU-TION.

Respondent contends that this Court should exercise its discretion, granted by Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, to decline to answer the question certified by the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

The question certified to this Court, "Would society conclude that the expectation of privacy, under the facts presented, was reasonable?" is not so unique or of such far reaching consequences as to necessitate resolution by this Court. <u>Stein v. Darby</u>, 134 So. 2d 232, 236-237 (Fla. 1961).

In <u>Lake v. Lake</u>, 103 So. 2d 639, 641-642 (Fla. 1958), this Court addressed the limits placed on its jurisdiction to prevent the intermediate appellate courts from "becoming way stations on the road to the Supreme Court." Though this Court was discussing a different aspect of review, the rationale behind the decision applies at bar:

> They [district courts of appeal] are and were meant to be courts of final, appellate jurisdiction. (emphasis in original) (citations omitted). If they are not considered and maintained as such the system will fail. Sustaining the dignity of decisions of the district courts of appeal must depend largely on the determination of the Supreme Court not to venture beyond the limitations of its own powers by arrogating to itself the right to delve into a decision of a district court of appeal primarily to decide whether or not the Supreme Court agrees with the district court

of appeal about the disposition of a given case.

<u>Lake</u>, 103 So. 2d at 642. Although the probe here may be with the consent of the district court and unquestionably within the power of this Court, it appears that increasing numbers of questions are being certified as being "of great public importance."¹ The review requested <u>sub judice</u> is nothing more than a second appeal.

Unless and until another district court addresses the same issue and resolves it differently, there is no showing that the issue here is of such statewide importance that only this Court should resolve it.

In light of the policy set forth in <u>Lake</u>, and for the reasons enunciated above, Respondent suggests that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction to review the instant decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

¹ The office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court reports that 88 questions were certified in 1988, 102 in 1989, 151 in 1990, 189 in 1991 and 156 in 1992.

POINT II

WOULD SOCIETY CONCLUDE THAT THE EXPECTATION OF PRIVACY, UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED, WAS REASONABLE? (QUESTION CERTIFIED).

the circuit court, Respondent unsuccessfully sought In suppression of a tape recording and cocaine. After a traffic stop was concluded, Respondent and the driver, Flowers, were told that they were free to leave. However, Deputy Brandes then asked and received permission from Flowers to search the vehicle. Although they were not under arrest and law enforcement did not have a founded suspicion or probable cause to believe they were engaged in unlawful conduct, Respondent and Flowers were placed in the rear seat of a patrol vehicle for their comfort and safety. The vehicle was equipped with a secret tape recorder and a tape recording was made of Respondent's private conversation with Flowers in the vehicle. Although the tape recording did not lead to the discovery of the cocaine, the tape recording was the only evidence that The circuit court linked Respondent to the concealed cocaine. concluded that Respondent did not have a reasonable expectation of privacy because he was seated in a police car and denied the motion to suppress (R 42-44).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed in part. Citing a unanimous <u>en banc</u> decision of the fourth district in <u>Springle v.</u> <u>State</u>, 613 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), <u>review pending</u>, No. 81,138, the district court found that the contents of the tape recording and any evidence derived therefrom are inadmissible under Section 934.06, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1991), as the secret and

unauthorized tape recording constituted an invasion of the right to privacy and a violation of Section 934.03, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1991). <u>Smith v. State</u>, 616 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993). Respondent had a reasonable expectation that his conversation was private under the circumstances presented in the instant case. The district court did not reverse the order denying the suppression of the cocaine as the tape recording did not lead to its discovery. <u>Id.</u> at 510. The district court subsequently certified the sole question of whether Respondent's expectation of privacy was reasonable under these circumstances.

Thus, the fourth district decided this case in reliance on Chapter 934, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1991), and Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution. Each of these provisions supply an independent state basis supportive of Respondent's position. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the Fourth Amendment is not implicated herein. The sole issue certified to this Court is "Would society conclude that the expectation of privacy, under the facts presented, was reasonable?" Respondent advocates an affirmative response as required by Chapter 934, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1991), and Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution.

However, <u>assuming arguendo</u> that this Court disagrees with this analysis, Respondent further contends that an affirmative answer is still required by the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution.

First, and perhaps most importantly, the use of the instant tape recordings in any judicial proceeding is prohibited by Chapter

934, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, "Security of Communications." These statutory provisions require consideration separate and apart from Florida or federal constitutional analysis. Chapter 934 provides an independent state basis to approve the decision of the district court of appeal.

In Section 934.01(4), the Florida Legislature set forth its purpose in enacting Chapter 934:

To safeguard the privacy of innocent persons, the interception of wire or oral communications when none of the parties to the communication has consented to the interception should be allowed only when authorized by a court of competent jurisdiction and should remain under the control and supervision of the authorizing court. Interception of wire and oral communications should further be limited to certain major types of offenses and specific categories of crime with assurance that the interception is justified and the information obtained thereby is not misused.

This policy "applies to the privacy of all citizens, including those accused of crimes." <u>Horn v. State</u>, 298 So. 2d 194, 197 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974), <u>cert. denied</u>, 308 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1975).

"Oral communication" is defined in Section 934.02(2), <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, as "any oral communication uttered by a person exhibiting an expectation that such communication is not subject to interception under circumstances justifying such expectation and does not mean any public oral communication uttered at a public meeting or any electronic communication." Nonconsensual interception of oral communications is legitimate <u>only</u> if done in accordance with a court order. §§ 934.01(4), 934.02(2), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> As the Fourth District Court of Appeal noted in <u>State v. Sells</u>, 582 So. 2d 1244,

1245 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991):

In enacting chapter 934, the legislature intended that each party to a private conversation should enjoy an expectation of privacy in that conversation. <u>Shevin v. Sunbeam Television Corp.</u>, 351 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 1977). The statute is designed to protect the victims of illegal interceptions, not those who perpetrate them. <u>State v. News-Press Pub. Co.</u>, 338 So. 2d 1313 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976). The statute bars the recordings of conversations without the consent of the other party. <u>Shevin.</u>

In <u>State v. Inciarrano</u>, 473 So. 2d 1272 (Fla. 1985), this Court expanded upon the definition of oral communication as set forth in the statute to require that <u>society</u> accept the expectation as reasonable. Thus, oral communication falls within the statutory scheme "if the person whose conversation or voice is being recorded expects that their conversation or voice will not be recorded and the circumstances justify that expectation and society is prepared to accept that expectation as reasonable." <u>LaPorte v. State</u>, 512 So. 2d 984, 986 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); <u>State v. Inciarrano</u>, 473 So. 2d at 1275.

In <u>Inciarrano</u>, in which this Court answered what it characterized as an issue "narrowed by the particular factual situation involved," this Court addressed "the more narrow issue of whether the tape recording made by a victim of his own murder must be excluded from evidence pursuant to chapter 934." <u>Inciarrano</u>, 473 So. 2d at 1273. Under these unique circumstances, this Court would not allow Section 934.06 to shield the perpetrator because society would not accept as reasonable the murderer's expectation that his communication would not be intercepted or

recorded where the victim tape recorded his own murder in his office. This Court limited this holding to the narrow issue it considered and this fact-specific scenario is decidedly not present in the instant circumstances.

Under Section 934.03, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, a crime occurs where a person, even law enforcement, willfully intercepts communications. Further, Section 934.06, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, precludes the use or derivative use of any illegally intercepted communication as evidence in any proceeding. <u>State v. Calhoun</u>, 479 So. 2d 241, 243-244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

Without question, Respondent plainly believed that his conversation was private. Moreover, that belief was justified under the circumstances because it was deliberately fostered by law See State v. Calhoun, 479 So. 2d at 243. Law enforcement. enforcement assured Respondent and his co-defendant that they were not under arrest and were free to leave. Law enforcement directed Respondent to sit inside the cruiser not because he was being detained but for his own safety. Society should recognize as reasonable Respondent's expectation of privacy where law enforcement misrepresents the situation to persons who were the subject of "hunches," not reasonable founded suspicion. A citizen should be entitled to take law enforcement at its word; a citizen should not be required to anticipate such a ruse. As Judge Letts so ably wrote in Springle v. State:

> When the police offer succor and shelter to Florida citizens, neither under arrest nor even articulable suspicion, we believe that the democratic society in which we live would

expect that its conversations not be secretly recorded by law enforcement.

Springle v. State, 613 So. 2d at 68.

As Respondent was neither under arrest nor detained pursuant to a founded suspicion of criminal activity, clearly he had a subjective expectation of privacy which society willingly accepts as reasonable. Indeed, in our society, our citizens would be expected to demand that such an expectation exist and that a person who is neither under arrest nor detained pursuant to a founded suspicion could expect to engage in a private conversation, albeit in a patrol car, without law enforcement secretly tape recording his conversation.

Thus, the district court correctly concluded that the tape should have been excluded pursuant to Section 934.06, <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, where law enforcement secretly tape recorded the conversation of Respondent, who was not under arrest or detained pursuant to a founded suspicion or probable cause.

In addition, Florida constitutional grounds under Article I, Section 23 provide an independent state basis for approving the well-reasoned decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution guarantees to all Floridians the right to privacy -- "...the right to be let alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life..." The right to privacy in Florida is independent of and greater than the general federal right embodied in the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. <u>In Re T.W.</u>, 551 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1989); <u>Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 477 So. 2d 544, 548 (Fla. 1985). Section 23 was intentionally couched in strong terms to afford the citizens of this state the utmost protection. <u>In Re T. W.</u>, 551 So. 2d at 1191-1192; <u>Winfield</u> <u>v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering</u>, 477 So. 2d at 548.

Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court recognize that it is primarily the responsibility of the state, and not the federal government, to protect the general right to privacy. <u>Id</u>.; <u>Katz v. United States</u>, 389 U.S. 347, 350-351, 88 S. Ct. 507, 511 (1967). Article I, Section 23 accomplishes this for Floridians. "This right ensures that individuals are able `to determine for themselves when, how and to what extent information about them is communicated to others.' (citation omitted)." <u>Shaktman v. State</u>, 553 So. 2d 148, 150 (Fla. 1989).

Thus, the Florida Constitution guarantees the right to "informational privacy." <u>Rasmussen v. South Florida Blood Service,</u> <u>Inc.</u>, 500 So. 2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Rasmussen</u>, this Court recognized that "a principle aim of the constitutional provision is to afford individuals some protection against the increasing collection, retention, and use of information relating to all facets of an individual's life." <u>Id.</u> at 536.

Respondent submits that the surreptitious tape recording of a private conversation by governmental agents falls within the ambit of the amendment. By secretly recording Respondent's dialogue, the deputies were collecting information about Respondent which plainly was not intended for public knowledge.

Respondent contends that this issue is comparable to Shaktman

<u>v. State</u>, 529 So. 2d 711 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988), <u>approved</u>, 553 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 1989). The Third District Court of Appeal found Article I, Section 12 of the Florida Constitution is not implicated by the use of pen registers to gather information. 529 So. 2d at 715. Review, however, did not stop there. Rather, the third district held that the use of pen registers, an information-gathering technique, fell within the ambit of Article I, Section 23. <u>Id.</u> at 716. This Court approved that result:

> The right of privacy, assured to Florida's citizens, demands that individuals be free from uninvited observation of or interference in those aspects of their lives which fall within the ambit of this zone of privacy unless the intrusion is warranted by the necessity of a compelling state interest.

<u>Shaktman</u>, 553 So. 2d at 150. This Court held that "telephone numbers an individual dials or otherwise transmits represent personal information which in most instances the individual has no intention of communicating to a third party". <u>Id.</u> at 151.

Likewise, at bar, Respondent had no intention of revealing his private conversation to third persons. Thus, Article I, Section 23 is clearly implicated under the facts <u>sub judice</u>.

Where the right to privacy guaranteed by the Florida Constitution is implicated, this Court has applied the "compelling state interest" test.

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